Assignments of Error

1. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to fail to and/or incorrectly apply the Rule 12(b)(6), WV R.Civ.P., criteria in ruling on Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss 6
2. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to incorrectly apply Rule 56, WV R.Civ.P., criteria to Defendants’ Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss18
3. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to apply Rule 56 criteria to a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss without prior notice to the parties 22
4. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to fail to address and/or grant Plaintiff’s Motion under Rule 56(f), WV R. Civ. P., for additional discovery 22
5. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to fail to address and/or grant Plaintiff’s petition for the grand jury transcript underlying this matter. 24
6. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to conclude that the savings provision of WV Code §55-2-18 does not apply to wrongful death actions25
7. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to find that state statutes and constitutional provisions have no private right of action26
8. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to consider and apply the principle of “claim splitting” to certain causes of action asserted by Plaintiff in the case sub judice when those causes of action were not asserted in a related parallel federal action.26
9. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to find that certain claims asserted by Plaintiff were equitable and not actionable. 28
10. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to deny Plaintiff a hearing on its Rule 59(e) motion and a jury trial on issues of fact. 29
11. It was reversible and prejudicial error for the circuit court to ignore the time frames contained in its order setting a briefing schedule on Plaintiff’s Rule 59(e) motion. ... 30
12. The circuit court’s September 19, 2018 order denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Vacate order Granting Motion to Dismiss is erroneous on its face in that it reflects Plaintiff filed its reply on September 20, 2018 when the court ruled on the matter before Plaintiff could reply. 31

Statement of the Case

A. Factual Summary

This case arises from the March 13, 2013 homicide (App. Pg. 61, 124) of Wayne A. Jones at the hands of five (5) Martinsburg City Police Officers. Jones was shot approximately twenty-three (23) times, including approximately eleven (11) times in the back and buttocks (App. Pg. 110-119). Jones was initially stopped by police for jaywalking. What should have been a simple, brief encounter was escalated by the police officers into a foot chase, struggle and fatal shooting. Police officers claim Jones had a knife. However, no knife is seen on multiple videos of the shooting, nor has a knife been produced in this case or a related federal case. The same videos demonstrate that at the time of his homicide, Jones was laying prone on the ground, unmoving and posing no threat.¹

There is related litigation pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Case No. 18-2142; the federal case having been appealed twice from the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, remanded twice, and now on appeal for the third time. The federal case contains various civil rights claims, negligence and a wrongful death claim. App. Pg. 39.

The case sub judice seeks the following relief: compensation for negligent management, nonfeasance, misfeasance, and negligence by the City of Martinsburg, constitutional violations, violations of statute, and wrongful death. The complaint also requests the

¹ None of the videos were made part of the circuit court record below, but they are a matter of public record, and were referenced several times in the proceedings below. The videos are a part of the record in parallel litigation pending before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Case No. 18-2142. The most useful videos are a disturbing record of what amounts to a public execution by "law enforcement" officers acting as judges, jurors and executioners by firing squad. The videos speak volumes about the injustice represented by this case. It says more than the hundreds of words that follow in this brief. The videos are the subject of a contemporaneously filed Motion to Supplement the Appendix.

appointment of a commissioner, appointment of a special prosecutor and appointment of a grand jury advocate. App. Pg. 15.

There has never been a public trial nor a public accounting, in state or federal court, of the facts underlying this homicide. As this case is on appeal in both state and federal court, there has never been a final decision on the merits.

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed the complaint on September 16, 2016. App. Pg. 1. After a delay in service of process, Plaintiff filed a First Amended Complaint on July 20, 2017. App. Pg. 15.

On August 21, 2017, shortly after service of process, Defendants filed a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), WV R. Civ. P., to dismiss Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint. The motion for dismissal claimed that Plaintiff's complaint failed to set forth claims for relief. App pg. 22-224. Defendants' motion raised the following arguments: 1) that the First Amended complaint was barred by the doctrine of res judicata; 2) that the complaint was barred by the doctrine of claim splitting; 3) that the complaint was barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel; 4) that defendants had absolute and qualified immunity; 5) the complaint was barred by statutes of limitation; 6) that Plaintiff's "equitable" claims for mandamus, injunction and special appointments were not supported by "any" law; and 7) that Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint was barred because of untimely service.

Plaintiff filed a response in opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. App pg. 225-244. In summary, Plaintiff's opposition set forth the following points: 1) the Rule 12(b)(6) standard; 2) the Rule 56 summary judgment standard² 3) sufficient bases existed to deny

² Rule 56, WV R.Civ.P., has been interpreted to apply to motions to dismiss where, as in the case sub judice, matters outside the pleadings are considered on a motion to dismiss. Defendants attached numerous exhibits to their

Defendants' motion under both Rules 12(b)(6) and 56, WV R. Civ. P., and 4) addressed the substantive points raised in Defendants' motion.

The filing of a dispositive motion upon the joinder of the issues after service of process at the inception of the case without any discovery having been exchanged between the parties prompted the September 18, 2017 filing of Plaintiff's Motion Under Rule 56(f), WV R. Civ. P., for discovery necessary to respond to Defendants' motion. App pg. 245. Plaintiff also filed First and Second Sets of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents on September 19, 2017 and September 21, 2017, respectively. App pgs. 250, 261. Thereafter, on September 19, 2017, Plaintiff filed a Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings.³ App pg. 257.

On October 14, 2017, before Defendants' discovery responses were due, the circuit court entered an order staying proceedings pending the outcome of an appeal (the second appeal) of a related case before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit and denied without prejudice Plaintiff's request for grand jury proceedings.. App. pg. 285. The stay of proceedings was extended by order entered January 8, 2018. App. Pg. 289. By order entered March 27, 2018, the circuit court ordered Plaintiff to identify the claims being pursued in the state and federal cases. App. Pg. 291. The parties were also directed to update their briefs and proposed orders. App pg. 292. The same order reflects that the Court did not act on Plaintiff's request to permit discovery. App. Pg. 291-294.

motion, essentially converting it to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment. Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., 236 SE 2d 207 (WV 1977)

³ The issue of a prior presentation to a Berkeley County grand jury concerning the conduct of the police officers involved in this homicide is also the subject of a separate case pending before this court. See this Court's Docket No. 18-1045.

By Order entered August 2, 2018, the circuit court granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. App. Pg. 394. On August 13, 2018, Plaintiff timely filed a Motion Under Rule 59(e) WV R. Civ. P., to Alter, Amend and Vacate the August 2, 2018 Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff demanded a hearing on its motion. App. Pg. 411, 420.

On August 22, 2018, the circuit court issued a Trial Court Rule 22 Scheduling Order on Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) motion. App. Pg. 424. The scheduling order gave Defendants, as non-moving parties, fifteen (15) days to respond to Plaintiff's motion. Thereafter, Plaintiff, as moving party, had ten (10) days to file a rebuttal. By Agreed Order entered September 6, 2018, the parties extended Defendants' deadline for response to September 10, 2018. Thereafter, Plaintiff had until September 20, 2018 to file its reply / rebuttal. App. Pg. 427.

On September 10, 2018, Defendants filed their response to Plaintiff's 59(e) motion. App. Pg. 430. However, before the agreed upon and court ordered September 20, 2018 deadline for Plaintiff's to file its reply / rebuttal, on September 19, 2018, the circuit court entered its order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate Order Granting Motion to Dismiss. App. Pg. 478. This appeal followed.

Summary of Argument

In deciding a Rule 12(b)(6), WV R. Civ. P., motion to dismiss, the circuit court misapplied both Rules 12(b) (6) and 56 of the WV R. Civ. P. The Circuit Court committed additional error by refusing Petitioner's requests for discovery necessary to respond to the motion to dismiss. Further, the circuit court committed error by misapplying statutes of limitation, and statutes supporting several of Petitioner's causes of action by erroneously concluding those claims were not viable. It was also error for the circuit court to conclude that unresolved federal litigation arising from the police-involved homicide underlying this

matter barred Petitioner's unrelated circuit court claims.

Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

This case is suitable for oral argument under Rule 20, WV R. App. Pro., because it involves the following: 1) assignments of error in the application of settled law; 2) an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled; 3) insufficient evidence to support the ruling below; 4) issues of first impression; and 5) issues of fundamental public importance.

Petitioner suggests to this Court that this case should be decided on the merits by the issuance of an opinion under Rule 20(g), WV R.Civ.P., for the following reasons: 1) emphasize the application of settled law; 2) correct an abuse of discretion resulting in rulings not supported by evidence; 3) address issues of first impression; and 4) address issues of fundamental public importance, i.e., police administration and function.

Argument

1. It Was Reversible and Prejudicial Error for the Circuit Court to Fail to Apply the Rule 12(b)(6), WV R. Civ. P., criteria in Ruling on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review of the granting of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12 (b)(6)⁴, WV R. Civ. P., is de novo. Posey v. City of Buckhannon, 723 SE2d 842 (WV 2012) See also, Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyon Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 461 SE2d 516 (WV 1995).

On appeal of a dismissal based on granting a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) the allegations of the complaint must be taken as true. Wiggins v. Eastern Associated Coal

⁴ Failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Corp., 357 SE2d 745 (WV 1987).

B. Argument

(I) This court has developed the following criteria for deciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6):

(a). “Any set of facts” doctrine

The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of its claim which would entitle it to relief, Chapman, supra, followed in Cantley v. Lincoln County Com’n, 221 W Va 468, 655 SE2d 490 (2007) (Per Curiam). (Emphasis added).

(b) “Any legal theory” doctrine.

If the complaint states a claim upon which relief can be granted under any legal theory, a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim must be denied, John W. Lodge Distributing Co. v Texaco, Inc., 161 W Va 603, 245 SE2d 157 (1978), followed in Cantley, supra. (Emphasis added.)

(c) “Clarity, not detail” doctrine

A plaintiff is not required to set out all facts upon which the claim is based . Rule 8 requires clarity, not detail, State Ex Rel. McGraw, supra.

(d) “Plaintiff’s burden on motion to dismiss is a light one.”

The plaintiff’s burden in resisting a motion to dismiss is a relatively light one, McCormick v Wal-Mart Stores, 215 W Va 679, 672 SE2d 606 (2008).

(e) “Motions to dismiss are viewed with disfavor.”

Motions to dismiss are viewed with disfavor, and we counsel lower courts to rarely grant

such motions, Sturm v Board of Educ. of Kanawha County, 223 W Va 277, 672 SE2d 606 (2008).

(f) Only matters contained in a pleading can be considered on Motion to Dismiss

Only matters contained in a pleading can be considered on a motion to dismiss. Wilfong v. Wilfong, 156 WV 754, 197 SE2d 96 (1973); Riffle v. C.J. Hughes Construction Co., 226 WV 581, 703 SE2d 552 (2010).

Defendants have attached to their motion numerous exhibits which are not pleadings. Chapman, supra.

When matters are considered outside of the pleadings, the motion shall be treated as a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56. Chapman, supra.⁵ Rule 12(b)(7) WV R. Civ.

P. Requires notice of such treatment.

(ii) It was error for the trial court to misapply the standards in deciding Defendants' 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss

The Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss⁶ App Pg. 22-244, clearly includes

⁵ Rule 12(b)(7), WV R. Civ. P. reads in pertinent part ... "If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56." (Emphasis added)

The record below reflects that Petitioner was never given notice of the circuit court's intention to treat Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss as a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment, nor was Petitioner given any opportunity (through a course of discovery) to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

⁶ At the outset, it should be noted by the reader that the subject order entered by the circuit court was prepared by Defendants, persons with an obvious interest in the outcome of this matter, and was entered by the court with minimal changes. It does not appear the trial court checked the citations, nor substance of the order as represented by Defendants, before signing and entering the subject order.

numerous matters outside the pleadings,⁷ to-wit: exhibits I, J, and K, App. Pgs. 203-223.

The subject circuit court order rejected Plaintiffs' Rule 56 argument and treated Defendants' motion as a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss without required notice and opportunity to be heard. App Pg. 394-410. The court cited Forshey v. Jackson, 671 SE2d 748, 752 (WV 2008) for the proposition that "Rule 12(b)(6) permits courts to consider matter that are susceptible to judicial notice." Id. at 752. (App Pg. 397-398) However, in submitting the subject order, Defendants led the circuit court down the path of error by omitting Syl. Pt. 1 of Forshey which indicates the case involved documents attached to the complaint, a Rule 7 "pleading," not, as here, a motion to dismiss. Forshey goes on to indicate that "...the facts set out below (in the Forshey opinion) are gleaned from the pleadings." (Emphasis added). Id, at 750. Forshey does not support the circuit court's ruling.

The subject order (prepared by Defendant/Respondent) then incompletely cites Syl. Pt. 11, Arnold Agency v. West Virginia Lottery Comm'n., 526 SE 2d 814 (WV 1999) for the proposition that "... 'a court may take judicial notice of the orders of another court' for the limited purpose of 'establishing facts of such litigation and related filings.' "[sic]. App pg. 398. However, the entire syllabus point reads as follows: "Syl. Pt. 11. While a court may take judicial notice of the orders of another court pursuant to W. Va. R. Evid. 201, such notice may not be for the truth of the matters asserted in the other litigation, but rather is limited

⁷ Rule 7(a), WV R. Civ. P., defines pleadings as "... there shall be a complaint and an answer; a reply to a counterclaim denominated as such; an answer to a cross-claim, if the answer contains a cross-claim; a third-party complaint, if a person who was not an original party is summoned under the provisions of Rule 14; and a third-party answer, if a third-party complaint is served. No other pleading shall be allowed, except that the court may order a reply to an answer or a third-party answer."

By operation of Rule 7(a), Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss is not a pleading. Therefore, the trial court's consideration under Rule 12(b)(6) of matters raised in the subject motion to dismiss without prior notice to Plaintiff constitutes prejudicial and reversible error under Rule 12(b)(7).

to establishing the fact of such litigation and related filings.” (Emphasis added).

Again, the Defendants have led the Circuit Court down the path of error. Arnold is distinguishable from the case sub judice for the following reasons: 1) it involved a motion for summary judgment not, as here, a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss; and 2) the judicial notice in the case sub judice did not follow the requirements of Rule 201, WV R. Evid.⁸ In fact, the subject order doesn’t mention Rule 201 at all.

Rule 201, WV R. Evid., permits judicial notice of facts not subject to reasonable dispute and requires an opportunity to be heard on the issue of judicial notice. In the case sub judice, the facts underlying this case are in great dispute- one need only look to the still-unresolved appellate history of this case in federal court. Further, Plaintiff was never given notice by the trial court that the court intended to take notice of facts from the federal case, and was never given an opportunity to be heard upon such non-existent notice - all contrary to Rule 201.

Contrary to the circuit court’s findings at pg. 5 of the subject order (App pg. 398) and

⁸ Rule 201, WV R. Evid., Judicial notice of adjudicative facts, reads as follows:

“(a) Scope - this rule governs only judicial notice of adjudicative facts.

(b) *Kinds of facts that may be judicially noticed.* - the court may judicially notice a fact that is not subject to reasonable dispute because it:

(1) is generally known within the trial court’s territorial jurisdiction; or

(2) can be accurately and readily determined from sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

(c) *Taking notice.* - The court:

(1) may take judicial notice on its own; or

(2) must take judicial notice if a party requests it and the court is supplied with the necessary information.

(d) *Timing* - The court may take judicial notice at any stage of the proceeding.

(e) *Opportunity to be heard.* - On timely request, a party is entitled to be heard on the propriety of taking judicial notice and the nature of the fact to be noticed. If the court takes judicial notice before notifying a party, the party, on request, is still entitled to be heard.“ (Emphasis added)

Petitioner’s Rule 59(e) motion requested a hearing on the motion to dismiss. App. Pg. 411-415 . The circuit court ignored both the Rule 201(e), WV R. Evid. requirement for a hearing after taking judicial notice and Petitioner’s request for such hearing.

Arnold, supra, exhibits I.,J.,K.,to Defendant's 12(b)(6) motion are not pleadings, orders, nor were they attachments to Rule 7 pleadings and the Court should not have taken judicial notice of these exhibits, and probably other exhibits, to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. Such improper notice converted Defendants' 12(b)(6) motion to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment without required notice to Petitioner.

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