FROM FILE

DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners sued Respondents in District Court on June 13, 2013, only three months after the March 13, 2013 shooting incident. After full discovery and multiple amended pleadings, the District Court considered the merits of Petitioners' case and granted all Respondents summary judgment on October 15, 2014. While their appeal was pending in the Court of Appeals, Petitioners filed this duplicate "back-up" case in the Circuit Court on September 15, 2016, three and one-half years after the March 13, 2013 incident and nearly two years after the District Court's October 15, 2014 dismissal of their original case. Petitioners now have two identical cases based upon the same March 13, 2013 incident pending in two different courts.

The Circuit Court recognized Petitioners' clever procedural maneuvers and correctly dismissed their "back-up" case on August 2, 2018. After properly applying the Rule 12(b)(6) standard, the Circuit Court correctly determined that: 1) West Virginia's two-year statute of limitations bars Petitioners' negligence and wrongful death claims; 2) West Virginia's two-year statute of limitations also bars Petitioners' statutory and constitutional claims; 3) even if Petitioners' statutory and constitutional claims were timely filed, there is no private right of action for these claims under West Virginia law; 4) the doctrines of *res judicata* and "claim splitting" also bar Petitioners' claims; and 5) even if Petitioners' equitable claims were not barred by these doctrines, their equitable claims are not actionable under West Virginia law.

The Circuit Court also recognized Petitioners' obvious semantic maneuvers and correctly denied their Motion to Vacate on September 19, 2018. After properly applying the Rule 59(e) standard, the Circuit Court correctly determined that: 1) both Petitioners' District Court case and Petitioners' Circuit Court case allege the same negligence, wrongful death, statutory, and constitutional claims related to the March 13, 2013 incident; 2) both Petitioners' District Court case and Petitioners' Circuit Court case seek the same monetary damages and equitable relief

related to the March 13, 2013 incident; and, therefore, 3) it committed no "clear error of law" or "obvious injustice" by dismissing Petitioners' "back-up" case and deferring to the District Court's summary judgment dismissal of Petitioners' original case on its merits.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is not necessary under Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because: 1) the Circuit Court correctly applied established law to decide the dispositive issues and dismiss Petitioners' "back-up" case; 2) the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal; and 3) the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER RULE 12(b)(6) OF THE WEST VIRGINIA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

West Virginia's two-year statute of limitations bars Petitioners' negligence and wrongful death claims first filed in the Circuit Court on September 15, 2016, three and one-half years after the March 13, 2013 incident. Likewise, West Virginia's two-year statute of limitations bars Petitioners' statutory and constitutional claims. Even if Petitioners' statutory and constitutional claims were timely filed, there is no private right of action for these claims under West Virginia law. The doctrines of *res judicata* and "claim splitting" also bar Petitioners' claims. Even if Petitioners' equitable claims were not barred by these doctrines, their equitable claims are not actionable under West Virginia law.

A. Standard of Review

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*." Syllabus Point 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va.

770, 773, 461 S.E.2d 516, 519 (1995). Accordingly, this Honorable Court should review the Circuit Court's August 2, 2018 Order Granting Motion to Dismiss under a *de novo* standard.

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Applied the Rule 12(b)(6) Standard to Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, not the Rule 56 Standard as Petitioners Suggest.

Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires dismissal when a complaint "fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." W.Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a circuit court should "constru[e] the factual allegations in the light most favorable to the [non-moving party]" and grant the motion "where 'it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations." *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 204 W.Va. 95, 118, 511 S.E.2d 720, 743 (1998) citing *Murphy v. Smallridge*, 196 W.Va. 35, 36, 468 S.E.2d 167, 168 (1996) (additional citations omitted); *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.*, 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977).

Petitioners incorrectly argue the Circuit Court failed to apply this Rule 12(b)(6) standard to Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. They contend the Circuit Court improperly considered "matters outside the pleadings" and, therefore, converted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss into a motion for summary judgment subject to Rule 56 standards. Petitioners' Brief, pp. 6-8. Petitioners' arguments fail because the Circuit Court clearly applied the correct Rule 12(b)(6) standard after properly taking notice of pleadings filed in Petitioners' District Court case.

⁵ Later in their Brief, Petitioners' argue that, "[b]ecause the circuit court failed to identify the criteria it used in granting [Respondents'] Motion to Dismiss, [its Order Granting Motion to Dismiss] must be reversed to allow meaningful review." Petitioners' Brief, pg. 22. This argument simply ignores the plain language of the Circuit Court's August 2, 2018 Order Granting Motion to Dismiss which specifically and correctly states: "The Court rejects [Petitioners'] arguments with regard to Rule 56 and finds [Respondents'] Motion is properly treated as a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss." [397] This finding necessarily eliminated any need to consider Petitioners' inadequate Motion Under Rule 56(f) for Additional Discovery [245-247] and Petitioners' Petition for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings [257-259].

"Rule 12(b)(6) permits courts to consider matters that are susceptible to judicial notice." Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W.Va. 743, 747, 671 S.E.2d 748, 752 (2008). Thus, "a court may take judicial notice of the orders of another court" for the limited purpose of "establishing the fact of such litigation and related filings." Syllabus Point 11, Arnold Agency v. West Virginia Lottery Com'n, 206 W.Va. 583, 526 S.E.2d 814 (1999). The exhibits attached to Respondents' Motion to Dismiss are pleadings and orders from Petitioners' District Court case, submitted only to establish the fact of such prior litigation for purposes of res judicata, and pleadings and orders from Petitioners' Circuit Court case, submitted only to demonstrate the redundancy of their "back-up" case. Specifically, the Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss references Exhibit A (Petitioners' June 13, 2013 Complaint in District Court) [039-077], Exhibit C (District Court's October 15, 2014 Memorandum Opinion and Order Granting Summary Judgment) [139-159]. Exhibit D (Petitioners' original September 15, 2016 Complaint in Circuit Court) [161-171], Exhibit F (Petitioners' July 20, 2017 First Amended Complaint in Circuit Court) [182-187], Exhibit M (Fourth Circuit's March 5, 2018 Opinion) [334-347], Exhibit N (Circuit Court's March 27, 2018 Hearing Order) [349-351], Exhibit O (District Court's April 10, 2018 Scheduling Order) [353-358], and Exhibit P (Petitioners' June 13, 2018 Statement of Claims) [360-362]. Contrary

⁶ Petitioners suggest the Circuit Court considered "numerous matters outside the pleadings, to-wit: exhibits I, J, and K [to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss]." Petitioners' Brief, pp. 8-9. A closer review of the Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss reveals it did not rely on any of these Exhibits as a basis for granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. Exhibit I is an April 18, 2016 notice from the United States' Attorney's Office confirming that the "Justice Department announced today that there is insufficient evidence to pursue federal criminal civil rights charges against [Respondent Officers] in connection with the 2013 shooting death of Wayne Jones." [204-208] Exhibit J is an August 3, 2017 e-mail and an August 4, 2017 letter to Petitioners' counsel requesting that Petitioners voluntarily dismiss the Circuit Court case "[i]n light of the summary judgment rulings on the nearly identical law suit filed by the [Petitioners] in the [District Court]." [210-214] And, Exhibit K is Petitioners' January 3, 2017 Motion for Extension of Time for [Petitioners] to Serve Defendants with Summons and Complaint." [216-217] Petitioners recognize that none of these exhibits really introduces "matters outside the pleadings" because, later in their Brief, they acknowledge: "A review of the 'Findings of Fact' section of the subject August 2, 2018 Order Granting

to Petitioners' arguments, the Circuit Court may properly take judicial notice of these exhibits without converting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. See *Ballard v. Pomponio*, No. 15-738, 2016 WL 4579066, at *3 n.1 (W.Va. Supreme Court, September 2, 2016) (memorandum decision) ("Respondent also notes, correctly, that the circuit court was able to take judicial notice of the proceedings in the federal district court without converting respondent's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment because, in deciding such motions, a court is permitted to consider matters that are susceptible to judicial notice."). Indeed, this Honorable Court has rejected Petitioners' argument that a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss based on *res judicata* must be converted to a motion for summary judgment. See *Gulas v. Infocision Management Corp.*, 215 W.Va. 225, 229 n.4, 599 S.E.2d 648, 652 n.4 (2004) (rejecting argument that motion to dismiss based on *res judicata* must be converted to a summary judgment).

In light of these authorities, and upon a review of the actual "matters outside the pleadings" at issue, this Honorable Court should reject Petitioners' arguments suggesting the Circuit Court erred in its application of the Rule 12(b)(6) standard and somehow converted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss into a motion for summary judgment subject to the Rule 56 standard.

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined West Virginia's Two-Year Statute of Limitations Bars Petitioners' Negligence and Wrongful Death Claims First Filed in the Circuit Court on September 15, 2016, Three and One-Half Years After the March 13, 2013 Incident.

West Virginia sets a two-year statute of limitations for personal injury and wrongful death claims. W.Va. Code § 55-2-12 and § 55-7-6(d).⁷ Petitioners filed their original Complaint in the

Motion to Dismiss at pgs. 1-3 of the order . . . , demonstrates that it is merely a recitation of the procedural history of both the case *sub judice* and the parallel federal case." Petitioners' Brief, pg. 19.

⁷ West Virginia Code § 55-2-12 provides: "Every personal action for which no limitation is otherwise prescribed shall be brought: (a) Within two years next after the right to bring the same shall have accrued, if it be for damages to property; (b) within two years next after the right to bring the same shall have accrued if it be for damages for personal injuries; and (c) within one year next after the right to

Circuit Court on September 15, 2016, three and one-half years after the March 13, 2013 incident. Therefore, the West Virginia's two-year statute of limitations bars these claims and the Circuit Court correctly dismissed these claims.

1. West Virginia Code § 55-2-18 does not extend the statute of limitations.

Petitioners incorrectly cite *Litten v. Peer*, 156 W.Va. 791, 197 S.E.2d 322 (1973), for the bald proposition that "[t]he statute of limitations was tolled by the filing of the federal action." Petitioners' Brief, pg. 13. In *Litten*, the Supreme Court of Appeals addressed the circumstances under which West Virginia Code § 55-2-18 could toll a statute of limitations. This statute provides:

For a period of **one year from the date of an order** dismissing an action or reversing a judgment, a party may **refile the action** if the initial pleading was timely filed and: (i) the action was involuntarily dismissed for any reason **not based upon the merits of the action**; or (ii) the judgment was reversed on a ground which does not preclude a filing of new action for the same cause.

W. Va. Code § 55-2-18(a) (emphasis added). Petitioners' argument fails because: 1) West Virginia Code § 55-2-18 does not apply to wrongful death actions; 2) Petitioners did not "re-file the action" in Circuit Court within one year of the District Court's dismissal; and 3) the District Court twice dismissed Petitioners' case on the merits.

a. West Virginia Code § 55-2-18 does not apply to wrongful death actions.

"[T]he strict two-year limitation on bringing suits for wrongful death [is] a non-tollable condition precedent." *Michael v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, No. 1:14CV212, 2017 WL 1197828, at *7 (N.D. W.Va. Mar. 31, 2017) citing *Huggins v. Hospital Board of Monongalia County*, 165 W.

bring the same shall have accrued if it be for any other matter of such nature that, in case a party die, it could not have been brought at common law by or against his personal representative." (emphasis added).

West Virginia Code § 55-7-6(d) provides: "Every such action shall be commenced within two years after the death of such deceased person, subject to the provisions of section eighteen, article two, chapter fifty-five. The provisions of this section shall not apply to actions brought for the death of any person occurring prior to the first day of July, one thousand nine hundred eighty-eight." (emphasis added).

Va. 557, 270 S.E.2d 160 (W.Va. 1980). Thus, "the saving provision of Code 55-2-18 does not apply to actions for wrongful death." *Id* citing *Rosier v. Garron, Inc.*, 156 W. Va. 861, 199 S.E.2d 50, 53-54 (1973) (internal punctuation omitted). Petitioners must timely file any wrongful death claims in the Circuit Court within two years of the subject incident (March 13, 2013 to March 12, 2015). This is a "non-tollable condition precedent." Petitioners first filed their wrongful death claims in the Circuit Court on September 15, 2016, three and one-half years after the March 13, 2013 incident. Therefore, Petitioners' wrongful death claims are clearly time-barred.

Petitioners argue the holdings in *Huggins* and *Rosier* were overruled by *Bradshaw v. Soulsby*, 210 W.Va. 682, 558 S.E.2d 682 (2001). Petitioners' Brief, pp. 25-26. This argument overstates the *Bradshaw* holding. In *Bradshaw*, the Supreme Court of Appeals created a narrow exception to *Huggins* and *Rosier* holding that the discovery rule may be applied to toll the two-year statute of limitations in a wrongful death case. *Id* at Syllabus Point 7.8 However, the discovery rule is not at issue in this case. Petitioners were well-aware of their causes of action when they filed their original Complaint in the District Court on June 13, 2013, only three months after the March 13, 2013 incident. Therefore, Petitioners cannot rely upon *Bradshaw*, or the discovery rule, to suggest the two-year statute of limitations was somehow tolled in this case or to excuse their failure to file any wrongful death claim in the Circuit Court until September 15, 2016, three and one-half years after the March 13, 2013 incident and more than three years after they filed their original Complaint in the District Court on June 13, 2013.

⁸ "It was not until 2001,..., that, in *Bradshaw v. Soulsby*, the Supreme Court of Appeals overruled *Miller v. Romero* and extended the discovery rule to wrongful death actions." *Michael v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, No. 1:14CV212, 2017 WL 1197828, at *8 (N.D. W. Va. Mar. 31, 2017).

b. Petitioners did not "re-file the action" in Circuit Court within one year of the District Court's dismissal.

West Virginia Code § 55-2-18(a) only tolls a statute of limitations if a plaintiff "re-files" his case within "a period of **one year** from the date of an order dismissing an action or reversing a judgment." W.Va. Code § 55-2-18(a) (emphasis added.) The District Court first granted summary judgment and dismissed Petitioners' case on October 15, **2014**. Petitioners did not file any case in the Circuit Court, let alone "re-file" a case in the Circuit Court, until September 15, **2016**. Thus, even if the District Court had dismissed Petitioners' case "not based upon the merits," Petitioners missed the one-year window to re-file, as they waited **one year and eleven months** to file their first case in the Circuit Court. Given this delay, and the fact Petitioners could not "re-file" their first case in Circuit Court, West Virginia Code § 55-2-18 does not apply.

c. The District Court twice dismissed Petitioners' case on the merits.

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